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Directions of the Old Rus Church
Architecture Development of the 12" — the first third of
the 13" century

Kateryna Mikheienko®

Abstract: The article analyzes the process of development in the architecture
of Old Rus on the basis of transplanted elements of the Byzantine cathedral
construction of its own tradition, which is vividly embodied in the original
forms of arch-gabled and pillar-shaped churches. The formation of the arch-
gabled church took place in the second half of the 11" century in Kyiv, where
in the early 12" century, it acquired finally completed forms. Almost
simultaneously in Chernihiv and Novgorod in the first quarter of the 12"
century, and later in other cultural centers, there appeared regional variants of
arch-gabled church, of which the Chernihiv variant quickly became
interregional, spreading in the south-western regions of Rus. The first signs of
pillar compositions are recorded in the first decade of the 12" century also in
Kyiv within the newly formed arch-gabled cathedral. In the middle of the
12" century in Polotsk there existed already a purposeful search for an
aesthetic model of a pillar-shaped church, which in the 80’s of the 12" century
moved to Smolensk. The crystallization of the completed forms of the vertically
oriented composition occurred at the end of the 12" century, after which the
pillar-shaped church took over the role of interregional type, displacing the
arch-gabled cathedral, apparently completely until 1240, when the
development of Old Rus architecture was interrupted by the Mongol invasion.

Keywords: Middle Ages; Old Rus; architecture, composition; arch-gabled
church; pillar-shaped church.

The beginning of church building tradition in Kyivan Rus, according
to the chronicle, is associated with Byzantine masters invited by Prince
Volodymyr the Great to build the first brick church in Kyiv — the Tithe
(Desiatynna) Church (989-996). The church was almost completely
destroyed by hordes of Batu Khan in 1240 and is now known from
archeological materials. But in the 11™ century on the basis of transplanted
Byzantine forms, the construction of churches began in Kyiv and other
cultural centers of Kyivan Rus, which entered the treasury of world
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architecture not as a provincial branch of Byzantine architecture, but as an
independent Kyivan Rus architectural school. In the 1980s, A. Komech first
identified a set of characteristics that, against the background of the
Byzantine tradition substrate, determined the originality of Kyiv architecture.
It is a multi-dome in the churches of the first stage (the end of the 10" — the
first half of the 11" century), which A. Komech explained functionally
connecting with the need to illuminate the vast choir, the construction of
which was a requirement of the prince’s order. The second stage of
architectural development, which began with the construction of the
Dormition Cathedral of Pechersk Monastery, A. Komech defined as the
period of origin of own original tradition, marked by the formation of a
previously unknown arch-gabled (3axomapnuii in Ucrainian) church®.
However, the study of A. Komech ends at the beginning of the 12" century,
and the church continued to develop throughout the 12™ century, the details
of which remain unexplored. In addition, at the end of the 12" century a
pillar-shaped (cmosnonoodi6nui in Ucrainian) church, a completely new
three-dimensional type, became widespread in Old Rus. The first information
about such churches appears in the process of architectural and archeological
research of the 1920s up to 1950s by P. Baranovsky, N. Brunov, N. VVoronin,
and 1. Khozerov?. This type of churches was studied in detail by Yu. Asieiev
(early 1970s)®. But he considered only the churches of the southern regions,
so his typology of pillar-shaped churches is local. In addition, Yu. Asieiev
analyzed the monuments only of the end of the 12" — first third of the 13"
century without analyzing the stages of such churches formation. At the same
period P. Rappoport outlined a broader picture of architecture development in

Y A. . Kowmeu, Jpesuepyccroe 300uecmeo kouya X — nauana XII 6. Busanmuiickoe nacnedue
u cmawnosnenue camocmosmenvrou mpaduyuu, Hayka, Mocksa, 1987.

2 [1. Bapanosckuit, Cobop ITamuuyxozo monacmuips ¢ Yepruzose in the edition Hamsmuuxu
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the late 12" — first third of the 13" century in its connection with the previous
stages of development®. But as a holistic process of pillar-shaped churches
formation and development remains unexplored, the history of the arch-
gabled church in the 12" century also remains poorly researched.

Arch-gabled church, which is one of the first innovations of the Old
Rus architectural tradition according to A. Komech, takes finally completed
forms in the early 12" century®. All divided parts of the wall facades of such
churches are completed by semicircular arched gables (s3axomapa in
Ucrainian), some of which are constructive (fill the ends of the vaults), and
some of the arched gables are decorative (adjoin to the slopes of the vaults).
The earliest Old Rus church that has preserved the original facade completion
is the Transfiguration Cathedral in Chernihiv (founded before 1036). It
represents a typical Byzantine combination of semicircular arched gables
filling the ends of the arms of the spatial cross and horizontal cornices above
other parts of the walls® (Fig. 1). In St. Sophia Cathedral (chronicles give two
dates of its foundation: 1017 and 1037) semicircular arched gables are
preserved in the ends of the arms of the transept of the five-naves core (the
western arched gable is completely lost), and the shape of the corner part
edges of the five-naves core under drum of the small domes are not clarified.
None of the inner galleries has preserved either the ceilings or the facade
walls of the second floor, because it is unknown what the original edges of
the facade walls of Sophia of Kyiv looked like’. In St. Sophia Cathedral in
Kyiv and the Transfiguration Cathedral in Chernihiv, the vaults above the
eastern corner compartments were lowered relative to the vaults of the last
compartments according to the Byzantine tradition and the wall edges of
these compartments and the side apses were lowered accordingly too.

* II. A. Pammonopt, Pycckas apxumexmypa na pybexce XI-XII gexos in the edition
Jlpesnepycckoe uckycemso: I[Ipobnemvr u ampubyyuu, Hayka, Mocksa, 1977, c. 12-29.
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® H.B. Xomocreuxo, Hccredosanus Cnaccrozo cobopa ¢ Yepnuzose in the edition
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" The reconstructions of the original appearance of St. Sophia Cathedral in Kyiv, proposed at
different times by different authors, give several options for ceilings the second floors of the
inner galleries, which have a different way of the facade wall edges. See M. K. Kaprep,
Lpeenuii Kues. Ouepku no ucmopuu Mamepuanvholl Kyismypul opesnepycckozo eopooa. T. 11,
IMamsrauky kueeckoro 3omuectBa X—XII1 8B. M3n-so AH CCCP, Mocksa-Jlernunarpan, 1961,
¢. 123-140; M. I1. Kpecanwuuii, Cogiticoruii 3anogionux y Kuesi: apximexmypno-icmopuunuii
napuc. Jlepx. BuA-Bo mitT. 3 Oyx. i apxirekrypu YPCP, Kuis, 1960, c. 85-86; FO. C. Acees,
Toukas, U. @., Hltennep, I'. M., Hosoe o xomnosuyuonnom 3amvicre Coguiickozo cobopa 6
Kuese in the edition [pesnepyccroe uckycemeo: Xydoowcecmeennas xynomypa X — nepgoii
nonosunvt XIII es., Hayka, Mocksa, 1988, c. 18-27; I'. H. Jlorsun, “HoBble ncciemoBaHus
JPEBHEPYCCKOW apXUTeKTYyphl” in “CTpOUTEeNbCTBO M apxuTekTypa”, 8/1978, c. 31-34.
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a)
Fig. 1 Transfiguration Cathedral in Chernihiv: a) view from the west;
b) reconstruction of the western fagade

St. Sofia Cathedral in Novgorod (1045-1050/1052), which is a five-
naves simple cross-domed church, surrounded by a series of two-story
galleries in the west, south and north, is considered to be the initial stage in
the arch-gabled church formation. First known in Old Rus arched gables over
small divided parts of the facade walls and the first decorative arched gable
which is unique and unknown in Byzantium among them have remained in
this cathedral. But Sophia of Novgorod arch-gabled edges, according to
A. Komech, had not been formed as “structural principle” yet as arched
gables were combined with the Byzantine horizontal cornices in it, which
complete the eastern compartments® (Fig. 2).

Fig. 2 St. Sophia Cathedral in Novgorod, reconstruction of the western fagcade

The first already formed arch-gabled church, about which
information is preserved, is the Dormition Cathedral of Pechersk Monastery

8 A. 1. Komeu, Hpesnepyccroe 300uecmeo konya X — navana Xl 6. ... c. 248.
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in Kyiv (1073-1087)°. The cathedral is four-pillared with a narthex (simple
cross-domed type). Its main volume is an elongated west-east parallelepiped,
topped by a single dome. All the corner compartments of the church are
lowered (crowns of arched gables of these compartments are at the level of
the springers of the large arched gabled of the arms of the spatial cross) on
the reconstruction of the northern facade of the cathedral proposed by
M. Kholostenko ° (Fig. 3a,b). According to A. Komech, only the arched
gables of the eastern corner compartments were lowered, which corresponds
to the Byzantine tradition and the springers of small arched gables of the
church western part were located on the same level with the springers of
large arched gables® (Fig.3c). On the walls of all the facades of the
Dormition Cathedral (except the apses) there was a meander frieze relating to
the floor level of the choir, and two tiers of windows above and below the
meander emphasized the statics of the horizontal volume of the church. There
were not galleries in the cathedral but there were the decorative niches at the
bottom of the all its facade walls including the semicircles of the apses
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Fig. 3 a, b, c Domition Cathedral of Pechersk Monastery in Kyiv: a) reconstruction
of the northern facade; b) scheme of the northern wall reconstruction; ¢) scheme of
the northern wall reconstruction

® See M. B. Xomocrenko, Yenencokuii cobop Ileuepcviozo monacmups in the edition
Cmapooasniti Kuis, HaykoBa mymka, Kwuis, 1975, c. 107-170. M. B. Xomnocrenko, Hosi
oocniodcennss loanno-Ilpeomeuencokoi yepxeu ma pekoncmpykyis Ycnencokozo cobopy
Kuceo-Ileuepcokoi aaspu in the edition Apxeonoziuni docnidocenns cmapodasuvozco Kuesa,
HaykoBa nymka, Kuis, 1976, c. 131-165.

0 M. B. Xonocrenko, Ycnencoxuii cobop Ileuepcvkozo monacmupsi ... c.153., M. B.
Xonocrenko, Hoei docnioocenns  loanno-Ilpeomeuencokoi yepkeu ma peKOHCMPYKYis
Venencorozeo cobopy Kueso-Ileuepcoroi naspu. .. c. 144.

A M. Komeu, Jpesuepycckoe 30duecmeo xowya X —nauana Xlls. ... c.272. Graphic
reconstruction of the northern facade of the Dormition Cathedral of Pechersk Monastery,
taking into account the remarks of A. Komech, was proposed by I. Anisimov. Seel. O.
AmiciMoB, [esxi ocobnueocmi nepgichoi apximexmypu Ycnencvkozo cobopy Kueso-
Ieuepcovioi naspu (asmopcwra sepcis) in the edition Jlaspcokuil anvmanax: Kueso-Ileuepcoka
naépa 8 KoHmeKkcmi YKpaincokoi icmopii ma kynemypu. 30. nayk. npays, Bum. 12, BIIIOJI,
Kuis, 2004. c. 24.
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St. Michael’s Cathedral of the Vydubychi Monastery in Kyiv was
built (1070-1088) almost simultaneously with the Dormition Cathedral of
Pechersk Monastery. It was built in two stages, first the central core was
erected, to which a narthex with a stair tower to the choir, located in the
northern compartment of the narthex was later added*?. The cathedral narthex
with the stair tower have survived almost to their full height, and only the
walls of the western compartments have survived from the central core. All
facade divided parts of the cathedral narthex had arch-gabled edges, as
evidenced by the remains of the lower parts of their windows or niches.
According to A. Komech, the small devided parts of the walls of the
cathedral original volume were also completed with arched gables, which
were decorative, as the domed vaults were placed behind them (a fragment of
one such vault has been preserved) * . According to N.Logvin’s
reconstruction, small devided parts of the facade walls of the main volume
were to be crowned with a horizontal cornice.

St. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral *® and at the same time
Pechersk Monastery Trinity Gate Church in Kyiv built in the early 12"
century demonstrate the already formed arch-gabled edges of the facades. But
the three-dimensional solution of these churches is fundamentally different.
St. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral, as well as the Dormition Cathedral
of Pechersk Monastery, is a four-pillared church with a narthex. Its volume is
the same elongated parallelepiped, the statics of which are emphasized by a
meander frieze and horizontal tiers of windows and decorative niches,
including a number of basement niches (Fig. 4). The vaults of the eastern
compartments of St. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral were lowered, as in
the Dormition Cathedral, but no lowering was not visible on the facades, as
there were decorative arched gables superimposed above them, springers of
which were at the same level as all the other arched gables®.

2 p. Buxosa, Budybuyskuii monacmup in the edition 3 icmopii ykpaincokoi pecmaspayii:
Hooamox 0o wopiunuka «Apximexmypua cnadwuna Yxpainuy, YkpaiHo3HaBcTBO, KuiB,
1996, c.179.1.1. Moguan, Apxeonoziuni docnioscenns na Budybuuax in the edition
Cmapooasnii Kuie, Haykosa nymka, Kuis, 1975, c. 100-102.

% A. . Komen, Hpesnepyccroe 300uecmso konya X — navana X1l s. ... c. 265-266.

¥y JlorBuH, “MuxaiinoBckast 1epkoBb Ha BeinyOuuax B Kuese” in “Coserckas
apxeonorus”, 4/1986, c. 270.

15 5t. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral was demolished in 1937, its measurements were
made by I. Morgilevsky in 1934. See M. K. Kaprep, /pesnuii Kues. Ouepku no ucmopuu
Mamepuanbroll Kyibmypel opesHepycckozo 2opooa. T. II. Ilamamnuxu Kueeckozo 300uecmsa
X=XIII 66., 3n-Bo AH CCCP, Mocksa, Jlennunrpan, 1961, c. 277, 279.

% 10. C. Acee, Apxumexmypa Opesneco Kuesa. Bynisenshux, Kues, 1982, c.100., A. U.
Kowmeu, [pesnepyccroe 300uecmeo xonya X — navana X1l s. ... c. 280.
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Fig. 4 St. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral in Kyiv: a) drawing of the southern
facade; b) reconstruction of the southern facade

Trinity Gate Church is a small four-pillared church without a narthex.
All its facades are the same, including the eastern one, as the apses are sunk
into the wall. The church is built above the gate, so its total volume has a
vertical orientation, which is emphasized by the compositional symmetry of
all fagades, located in the center of the dome, as well as tiers of windows and
niches, which in the absence of horizontal breaking up is perceived as filling

a) b)

Fig. 5 Trinity Gate Church of Pechersk Monastery in Kyiv: a) view from the south;
b) reconstruction
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Like all churches built in the 11™ century, St. Michael’s Golden-
Domed Cathedral and Trinity Gate Church were built in a mixed technique
“opus mixtum” of stone and brick with a recessed row. But at the beginning
of the 12" century in the Church of the Savior in Berestov, built near
Pechersk Monastery, there is a hew type of masonry only from the brick, laid
with a recessed row (“recessed-brick technique”), although the foundations
and basement of its walls are made in the technique “opus mixtum”, in some
places this technique is found in the walls of the stair tower at the level of the
choir'’. Another feature of the construction technique of this church is the
widespread use of oak beams for jumpers of door and window openings.
There is no chronicle date of the Church of the Savior construction, the
proposed dates vary from the end of the 11" — first quarter of the 12" century,
but most often this church is associated with the period of Kyiv reign of
Volodymyr Monomakh (1113-1125). Only the narthex to the floor level of
the choir has survived from the original building of the Church of the Savior
in Berestov (Fig.6a), and its full plan is known from archeological
excavations. This church has four pillars with a narthex (a simple cross-
domed type), like the Dormition Cathedral of Pechersk Monastery and St.
Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral. The lateral divisions of the narthex are
wider than the four-pillared core and form square projections, which is not
found in other churches of Old Rus. In the northern division of the narthex
there was a chapel with three apses recessed in the thickness of the eastern
wall, and the southern division was occupied by a stair tower square outside
and round inside in the center with a round support pillar. There were
antechurches near the western, southern and northern entrances. The choir of
the church was located at a height of more than 10 m, which exceeds the
level of location of the choir of all well-known Kyiv churches (there are
analogies only in the churches of Novgorod). Based on the level of the choir,
the height of the church walls should reach 20 m (the choir was traditionally
located at the level of the middle of the walls™®). Thus, the height of the
Church of the Savior in Berestov in relation to the size of the plan, compared
to Kyiv churches of the previous period, was significantly higher, so its
volume was vertically oriented, and the antechurches gave it some
pyramidality (Fig. 6b). In the central part of the western facade and on the
northern end of the narthex wall (the wall of the chapel) horizontal decorative
divisions in the form of meander friezes corresponding to the level of the
choir have been preserved. However, the windows and niches below the
meander are arranged in vertical tiers, which emphasized the vertical

70. Cepmiok, P. T'ynymsk, 0. Kopentok, C. Ckisip, Haykoso-pecmagpayitini 0ocniodicents
ma BUKOHAHHS HEBIOKNAOHUX KOHcepsayiuHux pobim na yepkei Cnaca na bepecmosi in the
edition Kyremypna cnaowuna Kueea: 00Cnioxcentss ma 0X0poHa iCMopuuHo20 cepedosumyd,
AptEk, Kuis, 2003, c. 58-59.

18 See A. U. Komeu, /pesnepyccroe 300uecmso konya X — nauana X1l 6. ... c. 149.
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orientation of the church, which can be seen as a certain analogy to the
design of the facades of the Trinity Gate Church. Crosses made of brick
played an important role in the decoration of the facade walls of the Church
of the Savior in Berestov.

Nothing is known about the type of vaults of the upper ceilings and
the number of domes of the Church of the Savior. But on the western wall of
its narthex there are traces of the adjoining ceiling of the antechurches in the
form of a trefoil arch (Fig. 6¢). Such a construction of the vault, made of
brick, could exist only in combination with wooden beams, the ends of which
are preserved in the thickness of the wall (Fig. 6d). Given the height of the
Church of the Savior in Berestov and the peculiariteis of the design of its
walls G. Shtender, and later V. Bulkin considered this church as the initial
stage formation of pillar-shaped churches development.

Fig. 6 a, b, ¢, d Church of the Savior in Berestov in Kyiv: a) view from the south-
west; b) reconstruction; c) the western wall of the narthex; d) reconstruction of the
western antechurch

®Prom. Wrennep, Tpéxnonacmuoe nokpvimue yepxeu Cnaca na Bepecmose (k gonpocy o
Xyoooicecmeentnom obpasze xpamos emopoiu nonosunvt XI — nauwana XII éexa) in the edition
Hamsmuuku xynemypoel. Hoevie omkpoimusi. Eocecoonux 1980, Hayka, Jlennurpan, 1981,
c. 541. B. A. BynkuH, “O Bpemenu noctpoiiku nepksu Criaca Ha bepecrose” in “Apxeosnoris’”,
2/1995, c. 143.
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Thus, in the church building of Kyiv in the early 12" century there
were already two options for a compositional solution. The first is
represented by St. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral, which, repeating the
horizontally oriented composition of the Dormition Cathedral of Pechersk
Monastery, is already a finally formed arch-gabled church. The second
variant is just beginning to take shape, it is represented by Trinity Gate
Church and the Church of the Savior in Brestov with a vertical compositional
orientation. Although the presence of a narthex in the Church of the Savior
gave it a horizontal orientation, the considerable height and similarity of the
design of its facades with the facades of Trinity Gate Church indicate a
common typology of both church compositions.

Novgorod churches, built in the same period as Kyiv Church of the
Savior in Berestov, are also characterized by a vertical orientation of the main
volumes. These are St. Nicholas Cathedral on the Yaroslav’s Court (founded
in 1113, Fig. 7), Nativity of the Virgin Cathedral in St. Antony’s monastery
(1117-1122), St. George Cathedral in Yuryi’s monastery (1119). Like Kyiv
Dormition and St. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedrals, these are arch-
gabled four-pillared churches with narthexes (a simple cross-domed type),
but their height in relation to the size of the plans is noticeably larger than
that of Kyiv cathedrals. This brings the proportions of these Novgorod
cathedrals closer to the proportions of Kyiv Church of the Savior in Berestov,
but here we should see the influence of St. Sophia Cathedral in Novgorod,
whose height is also greater than that of St. Sophia Cathedral in Kyiv. The
volume of the named Novgorod churches of the first quarter of the 12"
century cubic, although they are perceived elongated upwards and not only
due to the height of the walls, but also due to the design of the facades, which
have no horizontal divisions, so the windows and niches fill the gaps between
the vertical lesenes. Another distinctive feature of Novgorod churches is
multi-domed. St. Nicholas Cathedral on the Yaroslav’s Court had five domes
on drums (central and four smaller ones above the corner compartments of
the nine-celled structure), Nativity of the Virgin Cathedral in St. Antony’s
monastery and St. George cathedral in Yuryi’s monastery had three domes
each (central, one above the corner southwest compartment and another over
the stair tower). A specific feature of Novgorod churches is almost the same
height of the arched gables over small and central devided parts of walls,
which was achieved by lowering the crowns of the central arched gables. All
Novgorod churches were built in a mixed technique “opus mixtum” of stone
and brick with the use of a large number of volkhov flagstone in masonry.
Lack of genetic link between the Church of the Savior in Berestov in Kyiv
and Novgorod churches of the first quarter of the 12" century is confirmed by
the fact that the high-rise version of the compositional construction is not
widespread in Novgorod in the future.
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Fig. 7 St. Nicholas Cathedral on the Yaroslav’s Court in Novgorod, reconstruction

In the first quarter of the 12" century in Chernihiv a new variant of
arch-gabled church is being formed, which combines the three-dimensional
solution of Kyiv arch-gabled churches with Western European construction
and masonry techniques. Here during this period Sts. Boris and Gleb’s
Cathedral (the first chronicle mention of 1123) and the Dormition Cathedral
of Yeletsky Monastery (chronicle date is absent, variants of dating from the
end of the 11" century to the middle of the 12" century) are compositionally
similar to the Dormition Cathedral of Pechersk Monastery and St. Michael’s
Golden-Domed Cathedral (Fig. 8, Fig. 9). Both Chernihiv churches are four-
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pillared with narthexes (simple cross-domed type). Their volumes are
elongated parallelepipeds with springers of all arched gables located on the
same level. The altar compartments of both churches no longer have declines
in the interiors. The statics of their volumes, as in Kyiv cathedrals (the
Dormition Pechersk Monastery and St. Michael's Golden-Domed), is
emphasized by the tiers of windows above and below the level of the choir,
as well as windows and niches on the arched gables. But, in contrast to Kyiv
churches of the 11" and early 12" centuries, the Dormition Cathedral of
Yeletsky Monastery and Sts. Boris and Gleb’s Cathedral were built only of
brick in “opus isodos” masonry technique, which came from Western
Europe. The side parts of the choir of these churches are based on cross
vaults, which are also borrowed from the Western Europe and in Kyiv
architecture of the 11" — first decades of the 12" century are not known. In
addition, semi-columns adjoining the flat lesenes appear on the facades of
Chernihiv churches, as well as Lombard band and perspective portals typical
to Romanesque architecture. This variant of the arch-gabled church, which
combined Byzantine and Western European traditions, was later replicated in
large areas of the southwestern regions of Old Rus. Since the late 20°s of the
12t century similar churches are being built in Kyiv, Kaniv, Pereiaslav,
Volodymyr-Volynskyi, Smolensk, and Staryaia Riazan.

—_——— 2
Fig. 8 Sts. Boris and Gleb’s Cathedral in Chernihiv, reconstruction
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Fig. 9 Domition Cathedral of Yeletsky Monastery in Chernihiv, reconstruction of the
western fagade

In addition to Chernihiv interregional variant and local variants of
arch-gabled church existed in the 12" century, which did not go beyond their
region. These are Pskov and Staraia Ladoga in Novgorod land. Pskov variant
is represented by the Cathedral of St. John the Baptist (1130-1140s).
Typologically, it is a four-pillared church with a narthex, topped by three
domes on drums. But this church is not marked by height, it is rather low-
lying, and its volume is an east-west elongated parallelepiped without
horizontal divisions and without a clear system of window placement in the
almost complete absence of decorative niches. We can say that the
compositional solution of the Cathedral of St. John the Baptist is a
combination of Kyiv (horizontally oriented volume) and Novgorod traditions
of the first third of the 12" century (multi-dome, lack of horizontal divisions).
The churches of Staraia Ladoga are represented by the Dormition Church
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(mid. 12" century) and St. George’s Church (mid. 1160s), which are four-
pillared without a narthex and with one dome. Their volumes are cubic
without horizontal divisions and without a clear tier arrangement of windows.
In the second half of the 12" century churches similar to those of Staraia
Ladoga are also being built in Novgorod (the Church of the Annunciation on
the Myachino (1179), Sts. Peter and Paul’s Church on Sinicha Hill (1185—
1192), and the Church of the Savior on Nereditsa (1198)).

From the middle of the 12" century they started building arch-gabled
churches using the Romanesgue technique of construction of quadra stones in
Vladimir-Suzdal land. The remaining churches of this type are the Dormition
Cathedral (1158-1160, 1185-1189), St. Demetrius Cathedral (1193-1197),
the Church of the Intercession on the Nerl (1165) in Vladimir, and the
Transfiguration Cathedral in Pereyaslav-Zalessky (1152), the church of
Sts. Boris and Gleb’s in Kideksha (1152). In addition to the Dormition
Cathedral, these churches are four-pillared without a narthex, topped by a
single dome. The Dormition Cathedral was originally a four-pillared with a
narthex, and after the fire, in the process of reconstruction in 1185-1189, it
was surrounded by additional compartments from the north, west and south,
as a result of which it became five-naves, and its central dome was
supplemented by four small domes. All these temples are characterized by
Romanesque decoration. The middle height of all facades in the churches of
Vladimir is marked by an elegant carved arcade frieze, and on the walls of
the apses such friezes are placed under the base of the conches. All these
cathedrals have perspective portals, the same perspective archivolts of
windows of the top tier, figurine-shaped lesenes with the pro-thinned-out
bases, a carved sculptural decor. In the church in Kideksha the horizontal
division of the facades is made only by an arcade frieze, and in the cathedral
in Pereyaslav-Zalessky the arcade frieze is decorated only by the tops of the
apses, and the walls of the main volume are devoid of horizontal divisions.

Masonry of quadra stones was characteristic of Halych land, where
they began to build churches in this technique from the end of the first
quarter of the 12" century. All Halych churches, except St. Panteleimon
church (late 12" century), are known from archaeological excavations. These
are mainly four-pillared churches without narthexes: St. John’s Church in
Peremyshl (before 1126), the Church in Zvenigorod (until 1144), the Church
of the Savior (1152) and the Church in Tsvintariski tract (third quarter of the
12" century) in Halych, Sts. Cyryl and Methodius Church (second half of the
12" century) near Halych. The Dormition Cathedral in Halych was four-
columned, surrounded on the south, north and west by galleries. But how the
walls of Halych churches ended is unknown.

In most other regions of Rus, the “opus isodos” masonry technique
dominated, which spread along with Chernihiv variant of arch-gabled
churches, although not everywhere. In Novgorod, churches continued to be
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built in a mixed technique, a variant of “opus mixtum”, dating back to Kyiv
tradition of the 11™ century, but with the use of local volkhov flagstones. And
in the principality of Polotsk the brick masonry with a recessed row was
used, similar to the masonry of Kyiv Church of the Savior in Berestov.
According to P. Rappoport, the use of such masonry techniques indicates the
transition of Kyiv artel to Polotsk?’. But the only church in Polotsk that has
preserved the walls and ceilings under later layers is the Church of the Savior
of Euphrosyne Monastery (mid. 12" century). Unfortunately, other Polotsk
churches are known only from archeological excavations. These are the
churches in Dytynets and the Lower Castle, cathedrals of Belchytsky
Monastery (the Great Cathedral, Sts.Boris and Gleb’s Church and St
Paraskeva Piatnitsa Church), the Church-tomb of Euphrosyne Monastery. On
the basis of the plans of these cathedrals, we can identify several variants for
their compositional solution.

The first variant is represented by the Great Cathedral of Belchytsky
Monastery, which is considered to be the earliest among Polotsk churches of
this period (20-30s of the 12" century). It was a large six-pillared cathedral
(four-pillared complex type without a narthex). Its front lesenes were flat, the
antechurches adjoining three entrences. N. VVoronin believed that the Great
Cathedral of Belchytsky Monastery is the result of the composition
development of Kyiv Church of the Savior in Berestov?. But the peculiarity
of the three-dimensional solution of Belchytsky monastery cathedral was the
movement of the dome one division to the west, which fundamentally
transformed its composition, turning it into a central one®. With this
decision, the cathedral, according to P. Rappoport, should have had a raised
central part®. The development of the compositional variant of the Great
Cathedral of Belchytsky Monastery was probably continued by the Church in
Dytynets, the dome of which also rests on the western pillars. It had southern
and northern antechurches, each with a semicircular apse in the east (it is

2011, A. Parmoropt, 300uecmso Jpesneii Pycu, Hayka, Jlenunrpaz, 1986, c. 80.

2! Archaeological excavations opened the foundation ditches (in some places the foundations
have been preserved) only the apses and the found bricks of the Church on the Ditch in Polotsk
(See I1. A. Panmonopt, “ITonorkoe 30a4ectBo XII Beka” in “Coserckas apxeonorus”, 3/1980,
¢. 155-156). According to the schematic drawing of the end of the 18™ century there existed
also the Church with Side Apses of Belchytsky Monastery (See I1. A. Panmnonopr, Pycckas
apxumexmypa X—XII 66.: kamanoe namsmnuros, Hayka, Jlenunrpan, 1982, c. 99). However,
this information is not enough to establish the compositional solution of these churches.

2 H. H. Bopouun, Beavuuykue pyuns in the edition Apxumexmypnoe nacredcmso, B, 6,
T'oc. m31-BO MUTEPATYpPHI 110 CTPOMIIEBCTBY M apXUTEKType, Mocksa, 1956, c. 17.

2 11. A. Panmomnopr, “ITonomkoe 3om4ectBo XII Beka” in “Coerckas apxeomnorus”, 3/1980,
c. 157. B. A. BynkuH, “O Bpemenu noctpoiiku nepksu Craca Ha Bepectose” ... c. 143.
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assumed that there was also an antechurch on the western side®). Figurine-
shaped lesenes appear on the facades of the church®.

The second variant of the Polotsk churches is represented by St.
Paraskeva Piatnitsa Church of Belchytsky Monastery. It was a small
pillarless church with a rectangular apse, which had an underground crypt for
burial”. N. Voronin noted the elongation of the proportions of St. Paraskeva
Piatnitsa Church upwards, as indicated by the remains of the walls and
frescoes of this church, which still existed in the 1930s%.

The third variant is the Church-tomb of Euphrosyne Monastery and
the Church in the Lower Castle. Both churches were four-pillared without a
narthex with one protruding apse. They were surrounded by galleries on the
west, south and north sides®. Judging by the difference in the thickness of the
walls of the core and the galleries, it is obvious that the galleries of the
church were much lower than the main volumes. Thus, the three-dimensional
composition of the church was likely to be stepped, emphasizing the
dominance of the central dome®.

The fourth variant is represented by Sts. Boris and Gleb’s Church of
Belchytsky Monastery and the Church of the Savior of Euphrosyne
Monastery. Their plans are almost the same, but the Church of the Savior had
galleries, whereas Sts. Boris and Gleb’s did not. N. VVoronin believed that Sts.
Boris and Gleb’s Church represents the “first edition” of the architectural
type, which in its completed form is represented by the Church of the Savior
of Euphrosyne Monastery®. O. loannisian suggests that the first monument
of this type could be the Church of the Annunciation in Vitebsk®, built of
blocks of hewn stones, alternating with two or three rows of bricks (in Old
Rus this technique is only found in Sts. Boris and Gleb’s Church in
Novogrudok). On building Vitebsk church in Polotsk, Sts. Boris and Gleb’s
church was erected of brick in recessed row masonry technique.

The only remaining Church of the Savior of Euphrosyne Monastery
is a small four-pillared church with a narthex, one semicircular protruding
apse and side apses recessed into the wall. The peculiarity of this church is
the very narrow side naves, which will later become characteristic of the
pillar-shaped churches of the turn of the 12™ — 13" centuries. The church of

2% Id., Pycckas apxumexmypa X—XI| 6s.: kamanoz namsmuuxos, Hayka, Jleaunrpan, 1982,
c. 94

% 1pid.

2TH. H. BopouuH, bervuuykue pyunsl ... c. 12.

% Ipid., c. 13.

P11 A. Pammomnopr, “ITonomnkoe 30quectBo XII Beka” ... c. 159.

% bid., c. 149, 155.

'H H. Boponun, Bervuuyxue pyunui ... c. 9.

% 0. M. Hoauuucsn, 300uecmeo nepeoii nonosuns, — cepedunsi XII 6. in the edition Hemopus
pycckoeo uckycemea. T. 2/1: Hcexyeemeo 20-60-x 20006 XII éexa, TocynapCTBEeHHBIN
HHCTHTYT UCKycCcTBO3HaHMs1, MockBa, 2012, c. 126.
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the Savior was surrounded by the galleries on the western, southern and
northern sides®, which are the elements of a vertically oriented stepped
composition. Sts. Boris and Gleb’s Cathedral in Chernihiv, Sts. Peter and
Paul’s Church in Smolensk, St. Demetrius Cathedral in Vladimir and other
churches had similar galleries, but in the arch-gabled churches, the galleries
emphasize the horizontal orientation of the main volume. The change in the
compositional function of the galleries of the Savior Church was a
consequence of the lowering of the narthex and the apse, which
fundamentally distinguishes such a stepped construction from the
horizontally oriented arch-gabled churches. But the main and fundamental
difference between the Church of the Savior of Euphrosyne Monastery
(Fig. 10) and the arch-gabled churches with both horizontal and vertical
orientation (Kyiv Trinity Gate Church, Novgorod churches of the first quarter
of the 12" century) is the completion of its facades, which does not
correspond to the ceiling constructions. The arms of its spatial cross have
“standard” barrel vaults with the direction of the crowns along the axes of the
arms facing the facades with large arched gables, the corner compartments of
the nine-celled structure are covered with domes (western pair) and barrel
vaults with the orientation of the crowns west-east and the side compartments
of the narthex had barrel vaults with a south-north crowns orientation. The
ends of the narthex have constructive arched gables, but the spandrels
between their vaults and the wall of the nine-celled core are filled with
masonry and the edges of these devided parts of walls have a S-shaped
contour, and small decorative arched gables are on the western facade. All
the small arched gables of the nine-celled core were decorative because they
were either adjoing the slopes of the domed or barrel vaults or were built on
the conches of the side apses. The vertical orientation of the overall
composition is emphasized by the basement under the drum of the dome,
which is decorated on four sides with trefoil arches built over the arches of
the drum, and there were additional decorative arched gables between them
on the very drum. Thus, the central part was raised in this church with a
lowered apse and narthex and galleries. As a result, the standard cross-domed
church acquired a unique interpretation: its volume rose step by step, giving
the three-dimensional composition of the building the features of the pillar®.

®E H. Topmun, Hyx, . B., Moannucsn, O. M., 3sikos, I1. JI., Kou, A. JI., I'arepes Cnaco-
Ipeobpasicenckoii yeprsu Esghpocunvesa monacmuips 6 Ilonoyke (npedsapumenvivie umoau
apxumexmypHo-apxeono2uveckux uccredosanui) in the edition Benapyckae Ilaodsginne:
sonvim, Memoouxa i bIHiKi nanasvix oacreoasannsy, 1Y, Hoononork, 2016, c. 22-40.
*H.H. Bopounun, bervuuyxue pyunsi ... c. 5.
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Fig. 10 Church of the Savior of Euphrosyne Monastery in Polotsk, reconstruction of
the western and southern facade

Among the listed compositional variants of Polotsk architecture, the
first (complex cross-domed church without a narthex with three
antechurches) and the third (a simple four-pillared church without a narthex
surrounded by one-storied galleries) ones proved to be promising and were
developing in the architecture of Smolensk, and later in other regions. The
second (a small pillarless church with a vertical orientation of the volume)
and the fourth (horizontally oriented four-pillared church with a narthex and
a vertical orientation of the central part) variants failed to develop. But it is
important to emphasize that they also had a vertically oriented compositional
construction and can be considered as variations in the process of finding out
and working out a vertically oriented composition.

P. Rappoport believed that in Polotsk principality a new direction of
pillar-shaped churches appeared earlier than in other Old Rus architectural
schools, that became characteristic of the most lands at the end of the 121" —
the beginning of the 13" century. In the late 80’s — early 90’s of the 12"
century a Polotsk architect was summoned to Smolensk, where he built
Michael the Archangel Church, starting a local school there, which is
associated with the flourishing of Smolensk architecture®. Smolensk Michael

S A Panmnomnopr, “ITonorxoe 3oquectBo XII Bexa” ..., c. 161.
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the Archangel Church (80-90s of the 12th century) is a four-pillared cross-
domed church without a narthex with a protruding eastern part. The central
apse protrudes in a semicircle, the side apses are lowered and sunk into the
thickness of the wall (rectangular on the outside). Its western, northern and
southern facades are adjoined by antechurches, the space of which is
connected by high arched opening to the naos. The lowered side apses and
antechurches give the building forms the character of a dynamic increase.
The vertical orientantion of the construction on the facades is emphasized by
figurine-shaped lesenes. The arms of the spatial cross were covered, as in all
arch-gabled churches of the 12™ century, with barrel vaults, located in the
interior slightly above the arches under the dome drum. But at the same time
the corner compartments of the church are no longer covered with barrel
vaults, but with half-barrel vaults, which form a trefoil completion with
arched gables of the spatial cross on the facades® (Fig. 11a).

In Kyiv land, the earliest monument of the new direction of pillar-
shaped churches is St. Basil’s Church in Ovruch (about 1190), but only the
walls of the eastern part have remained, so it is impossible to talk about the
construction of its ceilings and the nature of the facades. St. Paraskeva
Piatnitsa Church in Chernihiv (the turn of the 12" — 13" centuries) belongs to
the same direction (Fig. 11b). This is a small four-pillared church without a
narthex, antechurches and galleries. All the facades of St. Paraskeva Piatnitsa
Church had trefoil edges, and the arms of the spatial cross had a three-
stepped shape, in which the arches under of the dome drum form a middle
step, the lower one is the vaults of the spatial cross, and the upper one is
formed by decorative arched gables adjoining the dome drum®. The arches
under the dome drum are located above the vaults of the arms of the spatial
cross both outside and inside. The type of arches construction, described
above, differs fundamentally St. Paraskeva Piatnitsa Church from the Savior
Church of Euphrosyne Monastery in Polotsk and from Michael the Archangel
Church in Smolensk, where arches are traditionally located below the vaults
of the spatial cross. The unusual thing about Chernihiv St. Paraskeva
Piatnitsa Church is that the ceilings of its corner compartments have a two-
storied constructoin: the lower arches are semicircular in shape, and the upper
ones are in the form of arc-boutants, introduced into the interior of the
building®.

At the end of the 12" — in the first third of the 13" century pillar-
shaped churches, except Smolensk, Ovruch, and Chernihiv, are built in Kyiv,
Belgorod, Novgorod-Siversky, Putivl, Vshchizh, and Old Ryazan, but all of

% C.C. Mogpsnonsckuit, Iepkoss Apxaneena Muxauna in the edition Bopomun, H. H.,
Pammomnopr, I1. A, 300uecmso  Cmonencka XII-XIII 66., Hayka, Jlemunrpax, 1979.,
c. 173,178, 182-183.

11, Bapanosckuit, Cobop ITamnuyrkoeo monacmuips 6 Yeprueose ... c. 20.

% Ibid., . 19.
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them are known only from archeological excavations. Only in Novgorod in
St. Paraskeva Piatnitsa Church the walls have been preserved to the upper
vaults (except for the southern antechuch, 2 m of which has been preserved),
in some places there are remains of vaults. However, the height of the
preserved walls indicates that the church had a pillar composition and was
characterized by a dynamic increase in the height of the volumes to the center
(Fig. 11c). Traces of fixation of the vault circle centres and arched gables
were found on the walls of St. Paraskeva Piatnitsa Church, as well as the
remains of the northwestern vault of the church, which made it possible to
reconstruct the trefoil completion of the facades of the nine-celled core®.

Fig. 11 a, b, c Pillar-shaped churches: a) Church of Michael the Archangel in
Smolensk, the reconstruction of the western fagade; b) St. Paraskeva Piatnitsa
Church in Chernihiv, reconstruction of the eastern fagade; ¢) St. Paraskeva Piatnitsa
Church in Novgorod, reconstruction of the western fagade

The ceilings constructions and the edges of facade walls of three
more partially preserved churches of this type are not known, they are built of
stone quadras in the Western European tradition: St. George’s Cathedral in
Yuriy-Polsky, Nativity of the Virgin Cathedral in Suzdal and St. Panteleimon
Church in Halych.

Yu. Asieiev singled out two variants of the vertically-tiered
compositions formation on the basis of the study of pillar-shaped churches
remains. The first variant with elevated arches under the dome drum without
antechurches and galleries (Ovruch, Belgorod, Kyiv, Chernihiv). The second
variant is with antechurches (Novgorod-Siversky, Putivl) or galleries

¥ TB. I'magenxo, JLE. Kpacnopeuses, Ilrennep, I'M., Ilynsk, JIL.M., Apxumexmypa
Hoeszopooa 6 ceeme nocrednux uccredosanuti in the edition Hoszopoo. K 1100-remuio
2opooa. Coopnux cmameiti, Hayka, Mocksa, 1964, c. 207.

84



Directions of the Old Rus Church Architecture Development of the 12" — the first third of the 13"
century

(Vshchizh), providing a gradual increase in mass to the center, but without a
constructive increase in the arches under the dome drum®. Both variants of
pillar-shaped churches are characterized by trefoil edges of facades, which
changed the arch-gabled edges, as well as figurine-shaped lesenes instead of
flat lesenes with semi-columns. It can be assumed that, in addition to the two
variants of compositional solution singled out by Yu. Asieiev (with
constructionally stepped top without galleries and antechurches and with
antechurches or galleries without constructional top), there existed a variant
that united them, that is, it had antechurches or galleries and at the same time
a constructionally stepped completion (elevated arches under the dome
drum).

Summing it up, we can state that the appearance of the pillar
compositional construction coincides with the final period of arch-gabled
churches formation. The initial stage of arche-gabled church development is
represented by St. Sophia Cathedral in Novgorod, the small divided parts of
walls of which have constructive and decorative arched gables, combined
with other types of edges, so it can be considered a “proto-arch-gabled”
church. The intermediate stage is the Dormition Cathedral of Pechersk
Monastery, and St. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral in the early 12"
century demonstrates the already formed composition, which was the focus
of regional variants of arch-gabled churches in Chernihiv and Novgorod, and
later in Halych, Pskov, Staraia Ladoga, and Vladimir-Suzdal land. Among
them, the closest in composition to St. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral,
the cathedrals in Chernihiv became an interregional variant of the arch-
gabled church, which was the dominant standard in the southwestern regions
of Rus until the end of the 12" century.

The formation of the pillar composition was not set in an empty
place. In the churches of the 11™ century, which do not show any signs of
such a composition, there are some details inherent in pillar-shaped churches
(stepped total volume due to the pyramidal composition of domes (St. Sophia
Cathedral in Kyiv, St. Sophia Cathedral in Novgorod), stepped vaults of the
arms of the spatial cross (Sophia of Kyiv), of galleries (Sophia of Kyiv,
Sophia of Novgorod); vertical orientation of the total volume (Sophia of
Novgorod); vertically-oriented interior space (Sophia of Novgorod); figurine-
shaped lesenes (Sophia of Kyiv, the Transfiguration Cathedral in Chernihiv).
The first signs of a vertically oriented composition are recorded in the first
quarter of the 12" century within the newly formed arch-gabled church
(Trinity Gate Church of Pechersk Monastery and the Church of the Savior in
Berestov in Kyiv, St. Nicholas Cathedral on the Yaroslav’s Court, Nativity of
the Virgin Cathedral in St. Antony’s monastery, St. George cathedral in
Yuryi’s monastery in Novgorod). In the second and third quarters of the 12"

0 10. C. Acees, 300uecmeo Ipuonenposcoii Pycu xonya XII — nepsoii nonosunst XIII éexoe
... €. 24-25, 36-37.
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century there appeared several parallel variants of the vertical composition.
The main center of this period was Polotsk, where a purposeful search for an
aesthetic model of vertical composition was probably carried out. In the 80—
90’s of the 12" century, pillar-shaped churches were being built in various
cultural centers (Smolensk, Kyiv, Ovruch, and Belgorod). During this period,
the standardization of the type takes place and there appears probably a
construction corresponding to the stepped completion of the churches (St.
Paraskeva Piatnitsa Church in Chernihiv). This is followed by the rapid
spread of the interregional type of pillar-shaped churches.

Here, however, it should be emphasized that the above mentioned
stages of pillar-shaped churches development are applied only to brick
architecture. In stone architecture of Vladimir-Suzdal principality during the
12™ century, only some features of such compositions are recorded, in
particular pyramidality at the expense of one-storied galleries (Church of the
Intercession on the Nerl, St. Demetrius Cathedral in Vladimir) and figurine-
shaped lesenes (all known churches of the second half of the 12" century).
And only in the pre-Mongol period (1220-1230s) there appeared churches,
the preserved parts of which suggest the existence of a pillar-shaped
composition. These are Nativity of the Virgin Cathedral in Suzdal (1225) and
St. George’s Cathedral in Yuriy-Polsky (1234) — four-pillared cross-domed
cathedrals with three antechurches open in the naos (northern and southern
antechurches were one-storied, western — two-storied) . However, these
cathedrals have remained only half the height, so the nature and design of
their facade edges are unknown, but the existence of antechurches proves its
pyramidal composition. We can assume that in stone architecture the
formation of this type of cathedrals also took place, but slower. It should not
be ruled out that the stone architecture borrowed the pillar-shaped
composition formed in the brick architecture as the completed variant.

In general, we can state that at the turn of the 12" 13" centuries,
pillar-shaped cathedrals took over the role of interregional type, which for
almost the entire 12" century belonged to several variants of arch-gabled
cathedrals. Thus, pillar-shaped cathedrals can be considered to be the second
Old Rus architectural tradition after the arch-gabled cathedrals, which
developed on the basis of transplanted Byzantine forms. But in 1240 the
development of this tradition was interrupted by the Mongol invasion.

List of illustrations

Fig. 1 Transfiguration Cathedral in Chernihiv: a) view from the west (photo by
K. Mikheienko); b) reconstruction of the western facade by M. Kholostenko (, H. B.
Xonocrenko, “UccnenoBanust Cracckoro cobopa B Yepuurose” in the edition

Pecmaspayuss u uccnedosanus namamuuxoe Kyavmypsi, B 3, Crpoitnzaar,
Mocksa, 1990, puc. 21)
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Fig. 2 St. Sophia Cathedral in Novgorod, reconstruction of the western facade by
G. Shtender (I'. M. Ulrenaep, “TlepBH4HBIi 3aMbICeT U MOCICAYIOMINEC U3MEHCHUS
ranepeii u nectanuHoM O6arrnu Hosroposckoii Codun™ in the edition [pesnepyccroe
ucckyemeo. Ilpobnemor u ampubyyuu, Hayka, Mocksa, 1977, c. 49)

Fig. 3 Domition Cathedral of Pechersk Monastery in Kyiv: a) reconstruction of the
northern facade by M. Kholostenko (M. B. Xomoctenko, “HoBi mocmimkeHHs
loanHo-IIpenTedeHchbkoi HEPKBH Ta PEKOHCTPYKINS Y cCHeHChKOro cobopy Kuepo-
Ieuepcekoi maBpu” in the edition Apxeonociuni docrioxcenns cmapodaénvbo2o
Kuesa, HaykoBa mymka, Kuie, 1976, puc. 14); b) scheme of the northern wall
reconstruction by M. Kholostenko (M. B. Xomnocrenko, “YcmeHchkuii coGop
Ieuepcrroro monactups” in the edition Cmapooasniti Kuis, HayxoBa nymka, Kuis,
1975, puc. 39); c) scheme of the northern wall reconstruction by I. Anisimov, taking
into account the remarks of A. Komech (I. O. AmicimoB, “Jleski 0coGIHUBOCTI
nepBicHOi apxitekTypu YcneHcbkoro cobopy Kueso-Ileuepchkoi iaBpu (aBTOpCchbKa
Bepcis)” in the edition Jlaspcwruii anvmanax: Kuceo-Ileuepcoka naspa 6 konmexcmi
yKpaincokol icmopii ma xyremypu: 36. nayk. npays. Bun. 12, BIIIOJI, Kuis, 2004,
puc. 2)

Fig. 4 St. Michael’s Golden-Domed Cathedral in Kyiv: a) drawing of the southern
facade by I. Morgylevsky (M. K. Kaprep, /lpesnuii Kues. Ouepxu no ucmopuu
MamepuanbHou Kyabmypsl opegnepycckozo eopooa. T. I Ilamamuuxu Kuesckoeo
300uecmea X—-XIII ss. 3n-80 AH CCCP, Mocksa, Jlennunrpaz, 1961, puc. 91);
b) reconstruction of the southern facade by Yu. Asieiev (A.H. Kowmewy,
Jlpesnepycckoe 300uecmeo kouwya X—nauara Xl 6. Buzawmuiickoe Hnacneoue u
cmanosnenue camocmosmenshoi mpaouyuu, Hayka, Mocksa, 1987, c. 276)

Fig. 5 Trinity Gate Church of Pechersk Monastery in Kyiv: a) view from the south
(photo by K. Mikheienko); b) reconstruction by Yu. Asieiev (FO.C. Acees,
Apxumexmypa opeeneco Kuesa. Bynisenbuuk, Kues, 1982, c. 87)

Fig. 6 Church of the Savior in Berestov in Kyiv: a) view from the south-west (photo
by K. Mikheenko); b)reconstruction by G.Shtender (.M. Irenzep,
“TpéxnonactHoe TOKpeiTHe 1epkBu Cnaca Ha bepectoBe (k Bompocy o
XYI0XKECTBEHHOM 00pase xpamoB Bropoil monoButbl X| — Havyana Xl Beka)” in the
edition IHamsmuuxu xynemypei. Hoevie omxpvimus. FEjcecoonux 1980, Hayka,
Jlenunrpax, 1981, c.538); c)the western wall of the narthex (photo by
K. Mikheienko); d) reconstruction of the western antechurch by G. Shtender (I". M.
HItennep, “TpéxnonactHoe mokpriTHe nepkBu Craca Ha bepecrose (k Bompocy o
XYIOXKECTBEHHOM 00pase xpamoB Bropoit mososunsl X| — Hagama Xl Bexa)” in the
edition IHamsmuuxu xynemypw. Hoevie omkpvimus. Ejcecoonux 1980, Hayka,
Jlenunrpan, 1981, c. 537)

Fig. 7 St. Nicholas Cathedral on the Yaroslav’s Court in Novgorod, reconstruction by
G. Shtender (A. U. Komeu, /pesnepycckoe 300uecmeo xonya X —mnauara Xl e.
Busanmuiickoe macinedue u cmawnosnenue camocmosmenvhou mpaouyuu, Hayka,
Mocksa, 1987, c. 300)

Fig.8 Sts.Boris and Gleb’s Cathedral in Chernihiv, reconstruction by
M. Kholostenko (H.B. Xoiocrenko, “UccnenoBanust bopucornedckoro cobopa B
Yepuurose” in “Coserckas apxeosorus”, 2/ 1967, puc. 18)

Fig. 9 Domition Cathedral of Yeletsky Monastery in Chernihiv, reconstruction of the
western facade by M. Kholostenko (H.B. XomocteHko, “ApXHTEKTYpHO-
apXeoJIOTHYECKOe MCCIIEA0BAaHUE YCIEHCKOro cobopa Ememkoro MoHacTeIps B
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Yepuurose” in the edition Hamsmuuxu xyromyper. Hcceaedosanus u pecmagpayust,
Beim. 3, U3a-8o AH CCCP, Mocksa, 1961, puc. 8)

Fig. 10 Church of the Savior of Euphrosyne Monastery in Polotsk, reconstruction of
the western and southern facades by P. Rappoport and G. Shtender (II. A.
Pammoniopt, Pycckasa apxumexmypa X—XII 6s.: kamanoe namamunuxos, Hayka,
Jlenunrpan, 1982, puc. 25)

Fig. 11 Pillar-shaped churches: a) Church of Michael the Archangel in Smolensk, the
reconstruction of the western facade by S. Podyapolsky (I1. A. Panmonopt, Pycckas
apxumexkmypa X—XI g6.: rkamanoe namsmuurxos, Hayka, Jlenmnrpam, 1982,
puc. 23); b) St. Paraskeva Piatnitsa Church in Chernihiv, reconstruction of the
eastern facade by P. Baranovsky (Bceo6imast uctopust apxutektypbl: B 12 T. / 0TB. pe.
10.C. SIpanos, Tom 3, Crpoiiuznar, Jlemunrpan, Mocksa, 1966. puc. 18); c) St.
Paraskeva Piatnitsa Church in Novgorod, reconstruction of the western facade by
G. Shtender (I1. A. Pammomnopt, Pycckas apxumexkmypa X—XIl 6s.: ramanoe
namsimuukos, Hayka, Jlenunrpan, 1982, puc. 18)
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